1972

American Express Co. v. Utah Feathers, A Division Of Miller Ski Company : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action, in contract, by a freight broker against its principal, a shipper, for sums expended to transport goods to European ports initiated when the shipper refused to pay because the amount claimed far exceeded the sum the shipper had authorized the broker to expend.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The trial court, sitting without a jury, awarded judgment to the freight broker (Respondent, Ameri-

can Express Company) and against the shipper (Appellant, Utah Feathers, a division of Miller Ski Company) in the principal sum of \$4,111.56, the full amount claimed by the broker.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Utah Feathers seeks a reversal of that portion of the trial court judgment which exceeds \$1,534.35, the sum American Express was authorized to expend.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant is a Utah corporation owned by Earl Miller and engaged in various types of manufacturing, including processing and exporting of turkey feathers (under the commercial names of Utah Feathers and Miller Masterfletchers) to various European ports for use as fletching on arrows (Transcript pages 5 and 52 and Defendant's Exhibit No. 20). American Express, among its other business activities, held itself out to be, and acted as a freight agent and custom house broker licensed by the U. S. Maritime Commission to represent shippers in moving their merchandise in international freight (Transcript pages 24 and 25 and Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 11). The transaction was entered into through a series of letters between the parties by which American Express agreed for compensation to act as agent to represent Utah Feathers' interest in arranging transportation, customs clearance, insurance and documentation for shipment of turkey feathers in

bulk from San Francisco, California to European ports (Defendant's Exhibit No. 20 and Plaintiff's Exhibits Nos. 11, 13 and 14.)

Utah Feathers had for many years shipped feathers in bulk across the United States by inland carriers to Port of New York, and by steamship from there to European ports (Transcript pages 52 and 53), but had done so with the assistance of freight agents and customs brokers other than American Express. The carrier charges customarily paid by Utah Feathers for shipments to European Ports immediately prior to the transactions here involved had been \$133.60 per metric ton (2260 lbs.) (Transcript page 56). It occurred to Earl Miller, president of Utah Feathers, that it might be easier to ship from Port of San Francisco (Transcript page 52) and so he wrote a letter of inquiry to the San Francisco office of American Express asking the price for shipping feathers and the availability of space on carriers (Defendant's Exhibit No. 20). Thereafter an agreement was arranged by correspondence between Earl Miller, acting for Utah Feathers, and John James Ewing, Export Manager of American Express (Defendant's Exhibit No. 20 and Plaintiff's Exhibits Nos. 11, 13 and 14).

The negotiations were launched by a letter from Earl Miller to American Express on August 20, 1968, which stated as follows:

"Gentlemen:

Please quote us a price of shipping feath-

ers compressed to 7 lbs. per cubic foot to Liverpool, England from the Port of San Francisco.

Also, please advise us the schedule of available space on carriers during the next 45 days.

Thank you.

Sincerely yours,

MILLER MASTERFLETCHERS

/s/ Earl A. Miller

President"

(Defendant's Exhibit No. 20)

On August 26, 1968, Mr. Ewing answered for American Express by letter as follows:

"Dear Sir,

Re your letter of the 20th August 1968. There is know (sic) specific Rate Item for Feathers quoted in the Pacific Coast European Conference Tariff. Cargo would go as Cargo NOS. The Rate for Cargo NOS to Liverpool is:

NON CONFERENCE RATE

90.58 per 40 Cubic Feet or Two Thousand Pounds. OCEAN FREIGHT plus 3% of

Total Freight 4.20 per 40 Cubic Feet or Two Thousand Pounds San Francisco HANDLING Fees.

1.00 per 40 Cubic Feet (sic) or Two Thousand Pounds San Francisco WHARFAGE Fees.

CONFERENCE RATE

77.00 per 40 Cubic Feet or Two Thousand Pounds. OCEAN FREIGHT plus 3% of Total Freight.

San Francisco Terminal Charges (Handling and Wharfage same as for Non Conference).

As you can see, it will pay you, if you decide to ship on a regular basis, to sign a Conference Agreement. All this means is that you agree to only use Conference Vessels and The Conference agree to always have a Vessel available. If after a time you ship sufficient Freight you can apply to have a Specific Rate for Feathers which would be less that (sic) the NOS Rate.

American Express Charges would be \$20.00 for Documentation plus \$2.50 for Banking if you would so wish us to handle your shipments. We can also arrange Insurance at a

rate of .44¢ per \$100.00 coverage plus \$2.50 Insurance Brokerage Fee.

There is approx one Vessel a week leaving the San Francisco Bay Area for Liverpool so Space requirement is not difficult.

“If you have any more questions please write to the undersigned and we will be please (sic) to assist you.

Yours truly,

/s/ John J. Ewing.

Export Division.”

(Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 11)

On August 30, 1968 Earl Miller responded setting forth his understanding of the proposed term as follows:

“Dear Mr. Ewing:

Thank you for your letter of August 26.

We wish to sign an agreement to ship all our feathers via Conference vessels in the \$77.00 per 2,000 pounds rate plus the other charges of 3% of the total freight, \$4.20 per 2,000 pounds handling fees, and \$1.00 for 2,000 pounds for wharfage fees.

Please advise to which dock we should deliver these feathers. They will be coming from

various turkey plants throughout the United States and should be ready for you to ship within two weeks.

Sincerely yours,

MILLER MASTERFLETCHERS

/s/ Earl A. Miller
President"

(Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 13)

Mr. Ewing then wrote on September 3, 1968 as follows:

"Dear Mr. Miller,

Re your letter of the 30th August 1968, We (sic) will be very happy to assist you in the exportation of your feathers. attached (sic) please find two copies of Shippers Rate Agreement, from the Pacific Cost (sic) European Conference. Please sign and return. We tried to phone you but according to the Orem Operator there was no such Phone Number please confirm that 801-FR- 3-6008 is correct. Before you can go ahead and deliver your cargo we must know how much cargo you will be shipping, so as we can book space with a shipping company.

If you wish us to handle the Banking please inform us. A few copies of our Export

Shipping Instruction form are attached. If you have any questions; please call us at the above Phone Number.

Yours truly,

/s/ John J. Ewing.
Export Division."

(Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 14).

This letter was accompanied by a contract form called a Shippers Rate Agreement (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 12) of an organization of steamship carriers called the Pacific Coast European Conference which Mr. Ewing stated in his letter and at the trial would ship at lower rates for shippers that would agree to ship all their merchandise by conference vessels rather than non-conference vessels (Transcript page 28). The Shippers Rate Agreement mailed to Utah Feathers did not specify any rates but related only to the relationship to be established between shipper and carrier. In referring to rates it merely referred to existing conference tariffs and stated that a schedule of rates would be available at the conference and carriers offices and that a shipper could obtain the schedule by subscription at a reasonably compensatory price (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 12, paragraph 10). Mr. Ewing used those schedules in quoting the rates but the only communication to defendant specifying the rates was Mr. Ewing's letter of August 26, 1968 (Plaintiff's Ex-

hibit No. 11). At the trial Mr. Ewing explained that he quoted the conference rate for feathers as cargo NOS (not otherwise specified) because the conference did not list feathers as a specific item in its rate schedule (Transcript page 28 and his letter, Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 11).

Although Mr. Miller's letter of August 30, 1968 stated that Utah Feathers wanted to sign an agreement to "ship all our feathers via conference vessels in the \$77.00 per 2000 pounds rate plus the other charges of 3% of the total freight, \$4.20 per 2000 pounds handling fees, and \$1.00 for 2000 pounds for wharfage fees," the Shippers Rate Agreement was never executed (Transcript pages 30, 64, 69 and 84).

On September 4, 1968 Miller mailed the following letter to American Express:

"Dear Mr. Ewing:

To further classify our letter of August 30th do not, under any circumstances, ship the feathers to European ports if the rate exceeds \$77.00 per 2000 lbs, plus the 3% of total freight, \$4.20 per 2000 lbs handling fees, and \$1.00 for 2000 lbs wharfage fees.

The rate from the port of New York is \$132.00 approximately for 2260 lbs (metric ton). Cost from Utah and California to New York is approximately \$10.50 per hundred weight or \$210.00 per ton.

Sincerely yours,

MILLER MASTERFLETCHERS

/s/ Earl A. Miller
President"

Mr. Ewing testified that this letter was never received.

American Express received and shipped the feathers for Utah Feathers (Transcript pages 10 to 18) and three or four months thereafter, when Utah Feathers had not received bills, Mr. Miller wrote requesting them. When the invoices were finally forwarded to Utah Feathers, they learned for the first time that American Express had paid the shipping lines freight bills approximately ten times larger than the amount of the quoted rate Utah Feathers had authorized American Express to expend and far in excess of what it would have cost if the shipments had gone through Port of New York (Transcript pages 57, 59, 64, 65 and 74).

John Ewing testified at the trial that the rates he quoted in his letter of August 26, 1968 "implied" that the ship line, at its option, could charge either by weight or by volume, and the carrier had applied the rate to volume to their advantage (Transcript page 44 and 26).

Earl Miller testified that the quoted and agreed rate was \$77.00 per two thousand pounds plus the charges for the services of American Express and that his letter of August 20, 1968 specifically made his un-

derstanding of that rate clear to plaintiff before the shipments were made (Transcript pages 54, 55, 56 and 58).

With the rates and charges computed in accordance with Mr. Miller's letter of August 30, 1968, American Express was not authorized to expend more than \$1,534.35 (Transcript page 74). They claimed to have expended \$4,111.56.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO AWARD JUDGMENT FOR SUMS EXPENDED BY THE AGENT BEYOND THE AMOUNT AUTHORIZED BY THE PRINCIPAL.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO RULE THAT BECAUSE THE UTAH FEATHERS' ANSWER TO THE AMERICAN EXPRESS OFFER VARIED THE PROPOSED TERMS BY LIMITING THE RATES TO MEASURE BY WEIGHT ONLY, IT CONSTITUTED A REJECTION OF THAT OFFER AND THEREFORE A COUNTEROFFER.

WHEN AMERICAN EXPRESS PERFORMED THE ACT OF SHIPPING THE GOODS THAT COUNTEROFFER SET THE LIMIT OF THE AGENT'S AUTHORITY.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN BASING ITS DECISION UPON A DETERMINATION THAT UTAH FEATHERS WAS CHARGEABLE WITH KNOWLEDGE THAT THE RATES QUOTED BY AMERICAN EXPRESS WERE MADE WITHIN THE CUSTOM AND USAGE OF THE BUSINESS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO AWARD JUDGMENT FOR SUMS EXPENDED BY THE AGENT BEYOND THE AMOUNT AUTHORIZED BY THE PRINCIPAL.

American Express Company acted as agent for Utah Feathers in the transactions that are the subject of this action. They were to be paid for services in arranging transportation of shipments of feathers from

Port of San Francisco to European ports. By their letterhead and by the testimony of their export manager, American Express had held themselves out to be licensed and available to act as a freight agent and custom house broker to represent the interests of shippers in dealing with the complexities of export documentation and coordination and in moving merchandise from inland carriers through customs and on board ocean carriers for transportation overseas. They classed themselves as a "licensed international freight forwarder" (Transcript page 24) and agreed for a compensation to act for Utah Feathers in making necessary arrangements for ocean transportation of feathers.

In assuming the responsibilities of an agent American Express established a fiduciary relationship knowing that Utah Feathers would repose trust and confidence in them to exercise loyalty and care toward their affairs and to faithfully protect their interests. It is a well recognized principal of agency law that:

"An agent is a fiduciary with respect to matters within the scope of his agency."

Restatement, Agency (2nd Ed.) Section 13, and
 ". . . The fiduciary relationship existing between an agent and his principal has been compared to that which arises upon the creation of a trust, and the rule requiring an agent to act with the utmost good faith and loyalty toward his principal or employer applies regard-

less of whether the agency is one coupled with an interest, or the compensation given the agent is small or nominal, or that it is a gratuitous agency . . .”

3 Am. Jur. 2d, Agency, Section 199, pages 580 and 581, and *Little vs. Herxinger*, 34 Utah 337, 97 P. 639.

It has also long been established as a general rule of agency law that the agent owes to his principal the use of such skill as may be required to accomplish the object of his employment, and if he omits to exercise reasonable care, diligence and judgment he may be responsible to the principal for damages (3 Am. Jur 2d Agency, Section 202, page 583). Indeed, it has been held that the law scrutinizes very closely all dealings between a principal and agent in the subject matter of the agency to see that the agent has given the principal the benefit of all his knowledge and skill (*Merchant vs. Foreman*, 182 Kan. 550, 322 P. 2d 740; *Shatz Realty Company vs. King*, 225 Ky. 846, 10 S.W. 2d 456, 6 A.L.R. 1374).

Where, as in this case, the agent holds himself out as having particular skills and talents in a certain field, he assumes an obligation to exercise the care and skill that characterizes that field and is therefore different in kind from the diligence or capacity of the ordinary citizen (*Cooms vs. Beede*, 89 Me. 187, 36 A. 104; *Isham vs. Post*, 141 N.E. 100, 35 N.E. 1084; 3 Am. Jur. 2nd, Agency, Section 205, page 585).

Although the courts have generally held that where an agent is employed or directed by his principal to do an act and he acts within the scope of his authority, the law implies a promise to reimburse for necessary expenses advanced or incurred by the agent in order to consummate that which he is directed to do (*Hoggan vs. Cahoon*, 26 Utah 444, 73 P. 512; 3 Am. Jur. 2nd, Agency, Section 243, page 612). Nevertheless, the rule is well established that where the agent exceeds his authority he will not be permitted to recover from the principal for money advanced or liabilities incurred beyond the limits of his authority (3 Am. Jur. 2nd, Agency, Section 244, page 613). The Restatement of Agency in describing this rule says:

“When No Duty of Indemnity

Unless otherwise agreed, the principal is not subject to a duty to indemnify an agent:

(a) for pecuniary loss or other harm, not of benefit to the principal, arising from the performance of unauthorized acts or resulting solely from the agent’s negligence or other fault. . .”

(Restatement, Agency, 2nd Ed., Section 440).

And at page 335 under the comment on that section it states that:

“. . . the principal has no duty to indemnify the agent for unauthorized payments or for losses resulting from unauthorized acts. . .”

This rule has been stated and applied in a federal court as follows:

“. . . [the] disbursements must be made, however, within the scope of the agent's authority, and if money is paid out or a loss incurred with respect to a matter as to which the agent acted in excess of his authority or in violation of his instructions, he is not entitled to reimbursement unless the principal ratifies his acts.”

In re American Range & Foundry Co., 14 F. 2d 466 at page 468.

American Express held itself out as having special skills as a freight or custom house broker and although a broker is, broadly speaking, an agent, the agency of a broker is distinguishable from general agencies in that he is an independent contractor and his authority is of a special character specifically limited by the instructions given to him by his principal (12 Am. Jur. 2nd, Brokers, Section 2 and Section 3, pages 773 and 774). Furthermore, a broker cannot recover money which he voluntarily advances in behalf of his employer without being expressly or impliedly requested to do so unless his principal subsequently ratifies such unwarranted action on his part (*Delafield vs. Smith*, 101 Wis. 664, 78 N.W. 170; 12 Am. Jur. 2nd, Brokers, Section 239, page 981). Here there was no ratification. American Express did not claim there was. In fact, Mr. Miller

protested the expenditures as soon as he learned of them.

In the instant case the only source for authority of American Express to expend sums on behalf of Utah Feathers was Mr. Miller's letter of August 26, 1968 which expressly set forth the terms they would agree to for the shipment of their feathers, namely:

“. . . \$77.00 per 2,000 pounds rate plus the other charges of 3% of the total freight, \$4.20 per 2,000 pounds handling fees, and \$1.00 for 2,000 pounds for wharfage fees.”

If, as claimed by American Express' Export Manager, his prior letter of August 20, 1968 impliedly meant that the carrier had the option of charging the \$77.00 rate either by weight or by volume, whichever became most advantageous to the carrier and that Mr. Miller of Utah Feathers should have read that meaning into it, then Mr. Miller's answering letter setting forth terms that contradicted Mr. Ewing's understanding of his quote surely should have constituted a "red flag" waving in Mr. Ewing's face saying, "Watch out! Miller doesn't understand the quote you gave. He only intends to pay \$77.00 per 2,000 pounds without modification for volume."

For Ewing to go forward and ship the feathers without any further communication or clarification with Mr. Miller about the rates could only be a breach of the good faith and loyalty required in the fiduciary rela-

tionship of the agent and a violation of the obligation of skill and diligence that should characterize a freight forwarder and custom house broker who is paid to represent the interests of the shipper.

In order to determine the question of the scope of authority of American Express to expend funds to ship the Utah Feathers cargos the trial court had before it only the following items relating thereto:

1. Mr. Ewing's testimony.
2. Mrs. Mote's testimony.
3. Mr. Miller's testimony.
4. Mr. Ewing's letter of August 26, 1968 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 11).
5. Mr. Miller's answering letter of August 30, 1968 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 13).
6. The Shippers Rate Agreement (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 12).
7. Mr. Miller's letter of September 4, 1968 (Defendant's Exhibit No. 21).

Examining the items in that order reveals that:

1. Mr. Ewing's testimony was that the entire agreement as to rates was contained in the correspondence (Transcript page 39). Although he referred to a telephone conversation with Mrs. Mote, a Utah Feathers employee on September 9, 1968 regarding coordinating of shipments and rates (Transcript page 38) there

was no testimony that the conversation in any way expanded or modified the limited authority granted by Mr. Miller's letter of August 30, 1968.

2. Mrs. Mote stated that the conversation related to destination of the feathers, that she did not recollect having any conversation regarding rates, that all communications regarding the rates were by letter and that she had no authority to arrange rates because Mr. Miller handled all that personally (Transcript pages 48, 49 and 50).

3. Mr. Miller testified that the arrangements were all done through the correspondence (Transcript page 56).

4. Mr. Ewing's letter of August 26, 1968 is ambiguous as to the rate quoted in that it stated "77.00 per 40 cubic feet or two thousand pounds." He testified the letter "implied" an option on the part of the carrier to charge by weight or by volume at its option.

5. Mr. Miller's letter of August 30, 1968 on the other hand, makes it clear that he only intended to pay a rate of \$77.00 per 2000 pounds plus the American Express fees.

6. The Shippers Rate Agreement did not in any way describe the rate to be paid and in no way modified the rate stated in Mr. Miller's letter of August 30, 1968.

7. Although the trial court ruled that American Express did not receive Mr. Miller's letter of September 4, 1968, that letter nevertheless clearly showed Mr.

Miller's understanding that the rate would be charged by weight only at the time of the transaction.

The law is clear that:

“. . . an agent may not recover for losses incurred because of failure to follow the principal's instructions, or for payments made for the principal but without the latter's authority.”

Hollandale Marketing Association vs. Goemat, 72 N.W. 2d 376. See also *Drake-Jones Co. vs. Drogseth*, 246 N.W. 664.

When American Express expended funds to ship the feathers far in excess of \$77.00 per 2000 pounds measured by weight, they exceeded the authority given them by Utah eFeathers. Whether done deliberately or by inadvrtance or negligence in failure to check the extent of their authority, American Express exceeded their authorized expenditures without seeking new instructions from Utah Feathers and without Utah Feathers' knowledge that they had done so. Mr. Miller protested the excessive charges as soon as he learned of them. The trial court chose to ignore both the facts and the law in that regard and in doing so committed reversible error.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN
IT FAILED TO RULE THAT BE-

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