1972

## **American Express Co. v. Utah Feathers, A Division Of Miller Ski Company : Brief of Respondent**

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

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT

**A W A R D   J U D G M E N T   T O   T H E  
A G E N T   F O R   S U M S   B E Y O N D   T H E  
A M O U N T   A U T H O R I Z E D   B Y   T H E  
P R I N C I P A L ,   A N D   T H E R E   W A S  
T H E R E F O R E   N O   E R R O R   C O M M I T -  
T E D   B Y   T H E   T R I A L   C O U R T .**

The American Express Co. was an International Freight Forwarder and as such was licensed by the Federal Maritime Commission to handle export and import documentation. (Transcript page 24 lines 23-28) The American Express Co. did not have any files or tariffs on file with the Federal Maritime Commission permitting it to quote charges. The American Express Co. could only obtain the charges from the correct source and relay them on to Utah Feathers. (Transcript page 24 lines 28-30, page 25 lines 1-16) This is exactly what the American Express Co. did after receiving Utah Feathers' letter of August 20, 1968 (Exhibit 20) inquiring as to the rates for the shipment of feathers. The American Express Co. replied with their letter of August 26, 1968 (Exhibit 11) stating that there was no specific rate item for feathers quoted in the Pacific Coast European Conference Tariff, but that the cargo would go as cargo not otherwise specified, and the American Express Co. set forth in this letter the non-conference rate and the conference rate as they had been given to them, together with the other charges involved in shipping, and the American Express Co.

set forth the advantages of signing a Conference Agreement and securing a lower rate.

To this letter Utah Feathers responded August 30, 1968, stating that they wished to sign a Conference Agreement, and American Express Co. then replied by letter September 3, 1968, enclosing two copies of Shippers' Rate Agreement (Exhibit 12) from the Pacific Coast European Conference. The Conference Agreement was never signed by Utah Feathers although they maintained they had done so right up to the very end of the trial, and at which time they finally admitted they had not signed it. (Transcript page 84 lines 11-20, Exhibit 12, page 9 Appellant's brief)

The foregoing admittedly constitute all of the evidence relative to the principal and agency relationship of Utah Feathers and American Express Co., except for Exhibit 21, which is a letter which Utah Feathers claims to have mailed to the American Express Co. September 4, 1968, but which letter the trial court correctly ruled was never delivered to nor received by the American Express Co. All of the evidence with regards to that letter is contained in the following pages of the transcript. (Transcript page 77 lines 29-30, page 78 lines 1-13, page 67 lines 7-30, page 68 lines 1-28, and page 37 lines 19-25)

It is hard to understand with any stretch of the imagination how Utah Feathers can say that the American Express Co., in this case, exceeded their authority

in arranging for the shipment of feathers under the rate schedule that had been relayed to Utah Feathers, and which schedule had been set up by the Pacific Coast European Conference and approved by the Federal Maritime Commission. The American Express Co. arranged for the feather shipments on the only rate that was available, paid the shipping company the freight charges, and then looked to Utah Feathers for reimbursement.

Contrary to the Appellant's contention, there can be no question as to the loyalty and good faith of the American Express Co. throughout the entire transaction. For their nominal fee of \$25 they endeavored to get Utah Feathers together with an Ocean Freight line on the shipment of their feathers. The American Express Co. set no rates, neither did they have any power or voice in determining whether the rate would be charged by weight or by volume. They simply passed on to Utah Feathers the rates quoted to them by the Pacific Coast European Conference, and which Conference represents all conference vessels to Europe.

It is no fault of American Express Co. if Utah Feathers placed an erroneous interpretation upon this rate schedule and tried to obtain a shipment of their feathers at such a ridiculously low figure. As the record in this case clearly shows, the rates were set by the shipping companies, who, before they can actually charge the rate, must obtain the approval of the Federal Mari-

time Commission, and there is therefore an assurance of fairness in these rates to both carrier and shipper.

This is certainly not a case where the agent has a duty to shop around in the interest of his principal to find the very lowest rate, because the rates in this case are fixed, and are uniform, and no carrier is permitted to charge either a lower or a higher rate than the published tariff. The American Express Co. merely acted as an intermediary in relaying to Utah Feathers the information they had received relative to rates and available ships.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THERE WAS AN OFFER MADE BY THE AMERICAN EXPRESS CO. TO WHICH UTAH FEATHERS CONVEYED AN ANSWER VARYING THE TERMS OF THAT OFFER BY LIMITING THE RATES TO MEASURE BY WEIGHT ONLY, AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THERE WAS A COUNTEROFFER WHICH SET THE LIMIT OF THE AGENT'S AUTHORITY.

There is no question but that the agency relationship between the American Express Co. and Utah

Feathers was created by correspondence and by the acts of the parties, and that the terms of that agency were determined by the trial court from the correspondence heretofore referred to and by the act of Utah Feathers in delivering their feathers to the carrier.

There is no doubt but that Utah Feathers inquired of the American Express Co. as to what rates and what vessels were available for shipment of feathers, and that American Express Co. replied giving them the rate schedule supplied by the Pacific Coast European Conference, and that following that Utah Feathers had the American Express Co. arrange for shipment of their feathers and that the feathers were shipped and that American Express Co. then billed Utah Feathers for the money they had advanced in getting the feathers to Europe. The American Express Co. made an offer to assist Utah Feathers with their feather shipments by providing them with the rate schedule for the Ocean Freight, insurance and documentary charges. This offer was accepted by the delivery by Utah Feathers of their cargoes to the carrier for shipment.

We submit, in spite of the Appellant's contention to the contrary, that the American Express Co. used all the care, skill and diligence required of them in carrying out their duties in this matter. In 3 Am. Jur. 2nd, Agency, Section 202, page 584, we find the law clearly stated:

“Only a reasonable degree of care is required,



and an agent is held only to the standard of skill ordinarily possessed by persons of common capacity engaged in the same occupation or business. Nor can an agent be held liable to the principal because he failed to procure for him something to which the latter is not entitled; actionable negligence on the part of an agent can be predicated only upon the invasion or loss of some legal right of the principal."

Utah Feathers, under the published tariffs, was not entitled to any lower rate than they received for the shipment of their feathers, and under no pretext can they be heard to complain that the agent failed to procure for them a lower rate to which they were not entitled.

And in Section 204 and 205 of this same text we find:

"An agent who contracts to perform personal service does not undertake to render perfect service, and mere error in judgment, not due to want of care or diligence, or to fraud or unfair dealing, are not actionable." "But even an agent with proported skills is not an insurer of his work and will not be responsible for a mere error of judgment where he exercised the due care and appropriate skill of his profession." (*Scott et al. vs. Security Title Ins. & Guarantee Co.*, 72 Pac. (2nd) 143, Calif.

And in 3 C. J. S., Agency Section 156:

“Since an agent is required to exercise only ordinary care, skill and diligence, he is not, in the absence of an express argreement, an insurer of the success of his undertaking, and does not guarantee the principal against incidental losses, or undertake that he will commit no errors or mistakes, and so will not be liable for losses occurring without any fault or negligence on his part. Neither is he liable if he has acted in good faith and with due care, for loss due to a mere mistake, including losses arising out of mistakes in doubtful matters of law.”

### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN FINDING THAT UTAH FEATHERS WAS CHARGEABLE WITH KNOWLEDGE THAT THE RATES GIVEN TO UTAH FEATHERS BY THE AMERICAN EXPRESS CO. WERE MADE WITHIN THE CUSTOM AND USAGE OF THE BUSINESS.

It is undisputed that by custom and usage at the

San Francisco Port, from which port these feathers were shipped, that the carrier has the option whether to charge the rate by weight or by volume. (Transcript page 26 lines 15-22, page 43 lines 19-30, and page 44 lines 1-21) Any other custom or usage would soon bankrupt an Ocean Carrier if they were compelled to haul such cargo as feathers on any other rate charge than by volume.

Earl Miller claims in one breath to be a novice in oceanic shipping and to be relying heavily upon the superior knowledge and experience of American Express Co., and in the next breath he testifies that he has been shipping feathers to Europe for the past 20 years, (Transcript page 52 line 30, and page 53 lines 1-2) and that he has been engaged in international trade in 42 countries, (Transcript page 76 line 30 and page 77 lines 1-8) and yet Utah Feathers would have us believe from their brief (Page 28) that Earl Miller is a man of only ordinary experience in this field and that "Ordinary experience would not have told him (Mr. Miller) that Mr. Ewing's quote of rates would allow the carrier the option of how to charge the rate." (Appellant's brief page 28 paragraph 4)

Mr. Miller testified that all of his previous 20 years of experience in oceanic shipping had been through the New York port and that there, by custom and usage, it was shipper's choice. (Transcript page 52 line 30 and page 53 line 102) (We submit that it was certainly gross negligence, even recklessness, for Mr.

Miller to assume that all customs and usage would be the same in all ports and to fail to make some investigation or inquiry as to who had the choice at San Francisco, and especially in shipping such an extraordinary cargo as feathers. There is no question but that Utah Feathers were chargeable with knowledge of the usage and custom in question in this case.

In 3 Am. Jur. 2nd, Agency, Section 72, we find:

“To effectuate an authority conferred upon an agent, there will be implied authority to adopt any recognized usage or mode of dealing in that business. That is, an agent will be deemed to have implied authority from his principal to do business in his behalf in accordance with the general custom, usage and procedures in that business.” (Restatement, Agency, 2nd Edition, Section 34, 76 A. L. R. 1250)

In Restatement, Agency, 2nd Edition, Section 36, we find:

“Unless otherwise authorized, an agent is authorized to comply with relevant usages of business if the principal has notice that usages of such a nature *may exist*. (Emphasis added) And in 3 Am. Jur. 2nd, Agency, Section 72: “The fact that the principal is not aware of the exact character of the custom or usage is

not material if he has notice that usages of such nature *may exist.*" (Emphasis added)

(*Hall vs. Paine*, 224 Mass. 62, 112 N.E. 153; *Rohobough vs. United States Exp. Co.*, 50 W.Va. 148, 40 S.E. 398; *Peterson vs. New York City*, 194 N.Y. 437, 87 N.E. 772; *Hilsinger vs. Trichell*, 86 Ohio St. 286, 99 N.E. 305)

There is no question but that Utah Feathers knew, not only that custom may, but that it actually did exist in the matter of fixing the rate for oceanic shipment of feathers.

And in 3 C. J. S., Agency, Section 149 at page 31 we find:

"Except as limited by special instructions, the known usages and customs of the particular business for which an agent is engaged enter into and form a part of his authority and duty and he will be held liable for losses due to a failure to act according to such usages and customs, and on the other hand, if he does act in accordance therewith he will not, in the absence of any instructions to the contrary, be liable for any loss resulting."

In *Burke v. Bonat*, 255 N. Y. 226, 174 N.E. 635, we find:

"The determination of what is the ordinary business procedure is commonly one of fact to

be answered by the jury unless the course of business is well-known as to be a subject of judicial notice."

Utah Feathers contends that for 20 years they had been following a custom and usage at the New York port and although Utah Feathers knew full well that custom and usage played an important part in arriving at the rate to be charged for shipping feathers, they had no reason to assume that this custom and usage would be the same at the San Francisco port, which is situated on the opposite end of the continent.

#### POINT IV

**THE AMERICAN EXPRESS CO. ADVANCED IN GOOD FAITH AND ON BEHALF OF UTAH FEATHERS ALL OF THE OCEAN FREIGHT CHARGES IN ACCORDANCE WITH BOTH THE RATE SCHEDULE FURNISHED UTAH FEATHERS AND THE PUBLISHED TARIFFS, AND THEY ARE THEREFORE ENTITLED TO REIMBURSEMENT.**

In 3 Am. Jur. 2nd, Agency, Section 243, we find:  
 "As a general rule, where an agent is employed or directed by another to do an act in his behalf, the law implies a promise of indemnity by the principal for damage resulting to

the agent proximately from the execution of the agency, and of reimbursement for necessary expenses advanced or incurred by the agent in order to consummate that which he is directed to do." Restatement, Agency, 2nd Edition, Section 438.

And in 3 C. J. S., Agency, Section 197, Page 103 and Section 198, Page 108:

"Money advanced by the agent to others under the terms of the Agency Agreement, if not for illegal purposes, may be recovered from the principal by the agent."

"An agent is not to be deprived of his right to indemnity, however, for mere mistakes of judgment where he has acted in good faith."

And in Restatement of Agency, 2nd Edition, Section 439:

"Unless otherwise agreed, a principal is subject to a duty to exonerate an agent who is not barred by the illegality of his conduct to indemnify him for:

- (a) Authorized payment made by the agent on behalf of the principal.
- (e) Payments resulting in benefit to the principal, made by the agent under such cir-

cumstances that it would be inequitable for indemnity not to be made.”

And on page 330 of the same text:

“The authority to pay money to third persons on account of the principal, or to incur liability in the course of the person’s business, may be created by specific directions or may be the result of the course of business between the principal and the agent, or of the customs of the business in which the agent is engaged by the principal.”

And in Section 8C of this same text:

“A person who has been unjustly enriched at the expense of another is required to make restitution to the other.”

“Similarly the duty of the principal to indemnify the agent and in other situations, the duty of the agent to indemnify the principal, is created by the rules of restitution. In fact, a large proportion of the rule stated in the Restatement of Restitution are applicable to agency situations.”

And in *Hoggan vs. Cahoon*, 26 Ut. 444, 73 Pac. 512:

“When an agent is employed or directed by his principal to do an act and he acts within the



scope of his authority, the law implies a promise to reimburse for necessary expenses advanced or incurred by the agent in order to consummate that which he is directed to do.”

### CONCLUSION

There is no question but that the American Express Co. was loyal and used due care and good faith in transmitting to Utah Feathers the rate quotations they had received from the Pacific Coast European Conference, and that using this rate schedule Utah Feathers had three shipments of feathers shipped to Europe, and for which, American Express Co. advanced in behalf of Utah Feathers, \$4,11.56 in freight and other charges, and for which the American Express Co. is entitled to reimbursement.